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Instruction  

National Organic Program Enforcement 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
This instruction provides policy and procedural guidelines for taking enforcement actions against 
violations of the National Organic Program (NOP) (7 CFR Part 205) and the Organic Foods 
Production Act of 1990 (OFPA), as amended (7 U.S.C. 6501 et seq.).  Its purpose is to establish 
appropriate and consistent sanction guidelines for instances where evidence confirms that 
noncompliances have occurred. 
 
2. Scope 
 
This procedure applies to NOP and all accredited certifying agents and certified operations.  
 
3. Background 
 
The National Organic Program (NOP) was established as a result of the OFPA.  The NOP 
develops, implements, and administers national production, handling, and labeling standards for 
organic agricultural products.  It accredits certifying agents (foreign and domestic) who inspect 
organic production and handling operations to certify that they meet USDA standards.  It 
enforces organic production, handling, and labeling standards. 
 
In carrying out its mission, the NOP and its accredited certifying agents take a variety of actions 
to enforce compliance with the Act and its related regulations.  
 
4. Policy 
 
4.1 General 
NOP enforcement actions include the following: 

1. Notice of Denial 
2. Combined Notice of Noncompliance and Denial 
3. Notice of Noncompliance 
4. Notice of Proposed Suspension or Revocation 
5. Combined Notice of Noncompliance and Proposed Suspension/Revocation 
6. Notice of Suspension or Revocation 
7. Consent Decree or Settlement Agreement 
8. Cease-and-Desist Letter 
9. Civil Penalty 

 
Generally, the recipients of enforcement actions fall into three groups: (1) certified operations 
(including new and renewal applicants); (2) accredited certifying agents; and (3) uncertified 
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operations (not applicants).  The following table illustrates the enforcement actions as they apply 
to the three groups. 
 

 Notice of 
Noncompliance 

Notice of  
Denial 

Notice of  
Proposed 

Suspension/ 
Revocation 

Combined 
Notice 

Notice of 
Suspension/ 
Revocation 

Consent Decree 
or Settlement 
Agreement 

Cease-and-Desist 
Letter 

Civil 
Penalty 

Applicant 
for 
Certification 

X X   X      X 

Certified 
Operation 

X   X X X X  X 

Accredited 
Certifying 
Agents 

X   X X X X   

Uncertified 
Operation 

     X X X 

 
4.2 Definition and Categorization of Violations 
Any deviation from the regulation is a violation and requires the initiation of an appropriate 
enforcement action to address the noncompliance.  In practice, the NOP recognizes that 
violations have various degrees of severity, incur different consequences, and are treated 
differently.  The following definitions and distinctions provide guidelines for the NOP in 
determining the different types of enforcement actions to take under different circumstances. 

1. Willful violation: An intentional violation of the Act or plain indifference to its 
requirements. 
 

2. Minor Noncompliance: A violation that is correctable, does not affect the integrity of the 
organic system or the organic product, and does not preclude the certification or 
continued certification of an otherwise qualified organic producer or handler.  Examples 
of a “minor noncompliance” include failure to submit information on time, failure to 
update the organic system plan, and inadequate record-keeping. 

 
3. Major Noncompliance: A violation of organic standards that affects the integrity of the 

organic system or the organic product and precludes the certification or continued 
certification of a producer or handler.  Examples of a "major noncompliance" include the 
application of a prohibited substance, the commingling of organic with nonorganic 
products, the contamination of organic products with prohibited substances, and the 
failure to correct a minor noncompliance.  
 

4. Organic integrity:   The qualities of an organic product or production or handling system 
which are obtained through compliance with  NOP requirements and which must be 
maintained from production through handling to the point of final sale in order for the 
final product to be labeled and/or marketed as organic. 
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The distinction between “minor” and “major” noncompliance is particularly relevant in the 
assessment of civil penalties. 
 
5. Procedure  
 
5.1 Enforcement Actions towards Applicants for Organic Certification: Issuance of 
Notices 
§ 205.405 specifies procedures for denial of certification for applicants for organic certification. 
§ 205.681(a) specifies certification appeals procedures. 
 
All notices (noncompliance, denial, combined notice) issued to applicants for certification shall 
follow procedures specified in § 205.405 and § 205.681(a).  The written notification must be sent 
through certified mail or other service that provides for a signed receipt.   

1. Notice of Noncompliance (NONC) 
§ 205.405(a) specifies that when a certifying agency has reason to believe that an 
applicant for certification is not able to comply or is not in compliance with the 
requirements of the regulations, the certifying agent must provide a written notification of 
noncompliance to the applicant.  The NONC shall include: 
a. A description of each noncompliance; 
b. The facts upon which the NONC is based; and 
c. The date by which the applicant must rebut or correct each noncompliance and 

submit supporting documentation of each such correction when correction is possible. 
 

The response to the NONC is evaluated.  When the corrective action or rebuttal is 
sufficient for the applicant to qualify for certification, an approval of certification is 
issued.  When the corrective action or rebuttal is not sufficient, a written notice of denial 
of certification is issued. 
 

2. Notice of Denial of Certification 
§ 205.405(d) specifies that a notice of denial of certification must state: 
a. The reason(s) for denial; and 
b. The applicant’s right to: 

i. Reapply for certification pursuant to §§ 205.401 and 205.405(e); 
ii. Request mediation pursuant to § 205.663 or if applicable, pursuant to a State 

organic program; or 
iii. File an appeal of the denial of certification pursuant to § 205.681 or, if applicable, 

to a State organic program. 
 

3. Combined Notice of Noncompliance and Denial of Certification 
If a certifying agent has reason to believe that an applicant for certification has willfully 
made a false statement or otherwise purposefully misrepresented the applicant’s 
operation or its compliance with certification requirements, a combined notice of 
noncompliance and denial of certification may be issued without first issuing a NONC. 
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5.2 Enforcement Actions towards Certified Operations: Issuances of Notices 
All notices (noncompliance, proposed suspension or revocation, combined notice, and notice of 
suspension/revocation) issued to certified operations shall follow the Compliance and Appeals 
procedures specified in § 205.660 – 205.662, and 205.681(a).  When a noncompliance is 
identified, written notification must be sent through certified mail or other service that provides 
for a signed receipt.   

1. Notice of Noncompliance (NONC)  
§ 204.662(a) specifies that when any noncompliance with the Act or regulations is found, 
a written notification of the noncompliance shall be sent to the certified operation.  The 
NONC should include:  
a. A description of each noncompliance.  

 
b. The facts upon which the NONC is based and the relevant sections of the National 

Organic Standards, 7 CFR Part 205, that are in violation.  
 

c. A statement that a written response must be received that either corrects the violation 
or rebuts the alleged violation.  
 

d. The timeline for responding to the NONC.  Generally, a response is due within 30 
days of receipt of the NONC. The timeline for responding can be changed under 
exceptional circumstances such as when organic integrity is threatened. 
 

e. Notification that if a written response is not received within the required time period 
further action, including proposed suspension or revocation of certification may 
ensue.  

 
The response to the NONC is evaluated.  Proposed corrective actions are evaluated to 
determine if they will correct the violation.  Additional documentation and/or inspections 
may be required to verify that the corrective actions have been implemented.  Rebuttals 
are evaluated to determine if adequate information is provided to reconsider the issuance 
of the NONC.  In the case of rebuttals, additional documentation and/or inspections may 
be required to verify that no violation has occurred.  

When it has been verified that the violation has been corrected (or the rebuttal verifies 
that no violation occurred), a written notification of noncompliance resolution is sent to 
the certified operation.  

 
2. Notice of Proposed Suspension (NOPS) or Revocation (NOPR) of Certification  

Following the issuance of a NONC, when rebuttal is unsuccessful or correction of the 
noncompliance is not completed within the prescribed time period, a written notice of 
proposed suspension or revocation shall be sent.   
Generally speaking, a NOPS should be issued when the noncompliance is still deemed 
correctable.  The intention of a NOPS is to give the operation some time to work on the 
noncompliance, achieve compliance, and be reinstated.  On the other hand, a NOPR 
should be used when the noncompliance is deemed not correctable, due to the willful and 
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egregious nature of the violation and/or subsequent impact on the organic integrity of the 
operation. 
 
The NOPS and NOPR include:  
a. The reasons for the proposed suspension or revocation;  

 
b. The facts upon which the Notice (NOPS or NOPR) is based and the relevant sections 

of the regulation, 7 CFR Part 205 that are in violation;  
 

c. The proposed effective date of the Suspension or Revocation of Certification 
(minimum of 30 days from the date of the proposed notice plus reasonable mail time); 
 

d. The proposed length of the suspension for NOPS; 
 

e. The impact of suspension or revocation on future eligibility for certification; and 
 

f. The right to request mediation pursuant to § 205.663 or to file an appeal pursuant to 
§ 205.681, timeline for the request, and contact information. 

 
3. Combined Notice of Noncompliance and Proposed Suspension or Revocation 

(§ 205.662(c)) 
A combined NONC and NOPS or NOPR may be issued when correction of a 
noncompliance is not possible, or when the violations are egregious or willful.  Examples 
of such violations include sale of conventional products as organic, use of prohibited 
substances, use of conventional feed, and denial of access to pasture.  A combined notice 
should include the following: 
a. A description of the noncompliance; 

 
b. The reasons for the proposed suspension or revocation;  

 
c. The facts upon which the Notice (NOPS or NOPR) is based and the relevant sections 

of the National Organic Standards, 7 CFR Part 205 that are in violation;  
 

d. The proposed effective date of the Suspension or Revocation of Certification 
(minimum of 30 days from the date of the proposed notice plus reasonable mail time);  

e. The proposed length of the suspension for NOPS; 
 

f. The impact of suspension or revocation on future eligibility for certification; and 
 

g. The right to request mediation pursuant to § 205.663 or to file an appeal pursuant to 
§ 205.681, timeline for the request, and contact information. 

 
4. Notice of Proposed Suspension or Revocation – Willful Violations (§ 205.662(d)) 

When evidence of willful violation is found, a notification of proposed suspension or 
revocation can be issued directly without an initial notice of noncompliance.  The content 
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of the notice should be similar to the items listed in the previous subsection (Combined 
Notice of Noncompliance and Proposed Suspension or Revocation).  
 

5. Partial Suspension or Partial Revocation – Willful Violations or Unsuccessful Rebuttal or 
Correction (§ 205.662 (c) and (d)) 
A partial suspension may be issued by the certifying agent or State Organic Program’s 
governing official to suspend a portion of an operation, as applicable to the 
noncompliance.  As an example, a partial suspension may be applicable when an 
operation is certified for two or more areas of operation (crops, wild crops, livestock, and 
handling) and when one area of the operation has committed an uncorrectable violation 
or an unsuccessful rebuttal or correction to a noncompliance.  

 
A partial revocation may be issued as a result of a willful violation or making a false 
statement under the Act to the Secretary, a State organic program’s governing State 
official, or a certifying agent (§ 205.662 (g)).  A partial revocation is rarely applicable 
and certifying agents should consult with the NOP prior to issuing a proposed partial 
revocation.  There are very few circumstances that would warrant a partial revocation and 
each case should be determined on an individual basis. 
 

6. Notice of Suspension or Revocation (§ 205.662(e)) 
A written notification of suspension or revocation shall be sent when a certified operation 
fails to respond to the NOPS or NOPR, or Combined Notice, through request for 
mediation or appeal.  

 
5.3 Appeals § 205.681  
An applicant for certification may appeal a certifying agent’s notice of denial of certification, 
and a certified operation may appeal a certifying agent’s notice of proposed suspension or 
revocation of certification to the Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS) Administrator.  When 
the applicant or certified operation is subject to an approved State Organic Program, the appeal 
must be made to the State Organic Program. 

1. Dismissed Appeals 
Appeals are dismissed when they are untimely filed, or the issues are not appealable. 

   
2. Sustained Appeals 

If the Administrator or State Organic Program sustains (agrees with) a certification 
applicant’s or certified operation’s appeal of a certifying agent’s decision, the applicant 
will be issued organic certification, or the certified operation will continue its 
certification, as applicable.  
        

3. Denied Appeals 
If the Administrator or State Organic Program denies (does not agree with) an appeal, the 
certifying agent’s decision remains effective. 
 

4. Formal Administrative Proceeding (§ 205.681(a)(2)) 
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 Following a denial of appeal, a formal administrative proceeding will be initiated to 
suspend or revoke the certification.  Such proceeding shall be pursuant to the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture’s Uniform Rules of Practice or the State organic program’s 
rules of procedures. 

 
5. Appeal Closures without a Decision 

Sometimes, appeals are closed without a decision.  For example, an appeal can be closed 
via a stipulated agreement in lieu of issuing a decision.   

 
(Refer to the Compliance and Analysis NOP Appeals Procedures in the NOP Program Handbook 
or at www.ams.usda.gov/NOPAppealsProcess for further details on the appeals process.) 
 
5.4  Levying of Civil Penalties (§ 205.662(g)) 
In addition to suspension or revocation, any certified operation that knowingly sells or labels a 
product as organic, except in accordance with the Act, shall be subject to a civil penalty of not 
more than $11,000 per violation.  

1. The NOP will consider pursuing civil penalties when there is clear and convincing 
evidence that a noncompliance is both willful and major. 
 

2. Accredited certifying agents shall refer such noncompliances to the NOP Compliance and 
Enforcement Division (C&E) for review and action.  The referral should be accompanied 
with supporting documentation and should be submitted within 30 days of the 
verification of willful and major noncompliance. 
 

3. The C&E will conduct review of such referrals, based on documentation submitted by the 
accredited certifying agents and/or appeal decisions and files.  The NOP will recommend 
civil penalties against operations that have willful or major violations of the OFPA or the 
NOP regulations.   

 
5.5 Enforcement Actions towards Accredited Certifying Agents 
§ 205.665 specifies noncompliance procedures for certifying agents. 
§ 205.681(b) specifies accreditation appeals procedures. 
 
When an accredited certifying agent is found to be in noncompliance with the Act, a written 
notification of noncompliance shall be sent to the certifying agent.  All notices (noncompliance, 
proposed suspension or revocation, combined notice, and notice of suspension/revocation) issued 
to certifying agents shall follow the Compliance and Appeals procedures specified in § 205.660, 
205.665, and 205.681(b).  The options and progression in issuing the various notices are similar 
to those specified in Section 5.2. 
 
5.6 Enforcement Actions towards Uncertified Operations 
§ 205.100 What has to be certified. 
§ 205.102 and§205.300 Use of the term, “Organic.” 
 

http://www.ams.usda.gov/NOPAppealsProcess
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NOP regulations require that operations or portions of operations that produce or handle 
agricultural products that are intended to be sold, labeled, or represented as "100 percent 
organic," "organic," or "made with organic (specified ingredients or food group(s)) be certified 
by accredited certifying agents.  Producers and handling operations that sell less than $5,000 a 
year in organic agricultural products are exempt from certification.  They may label their 
products organic if they abide by the standards, but they cannot display the USDA Organic seal. 
 
The term, “organic,” may only be used on labels and in labeling of raw or processed agricultural 
products, including ingredients, that have been produced and handled in accordance with the 
NOP regulations. 

1. Issuance of Cease-and-Desist Letters: 
Uncertified operations found in violation of the NOP Regulations are issued cease-and-
desist letters that stop the violation and warn against future relapse.   

2. Levying of Civil Penalties (§ 205.100) & 7 CFR § 3.91 
§ 205.100 (c) Any operation that:  
(1) Knowingly sells or labels a product as organic, except in accordance with the Act, 

shall be subject to a civil penalty of not more than §3.91(b)(1)(xxxvii) of this title (7 
CFR Subtitle A Subpart I - Adjusted Civil Monetary Penalties) per violation.  

§ 3.91 (xxxvii) Civil penalty for knowingly labeling or selling a product as organic 
except in accordance with the Organic Foods Production Act of 1990, codified at 7 
U.S.C. 6519(a), has a maximum of $11,000.  

 
The NOP will levy civil penalties against uncertified operations found in willful and major 
violations of NOP regulations.  Major violations include, but are not limited to, selling 
conventional products as organic, selling, labeling, and representing products as organic without 
certification while not exempt or excluded, falsely claiming to be certified, and using USDA seal 
in websites and advertisements. 
 
6. References  
 
Organic Foods Productions Act (1990 as amended) 
7 U.S.C. Sec.6519, Violations of Title.  
(a) Misuse of Label 
 
NOP Regulations (as amended to date) 
7 CFR § 205.100 What has to be certified. 
 
7 CFR § 205.401 Application for certification. 
 
7 CFR § 205.405 Denial of certification…. 
(d) A notice of denial of certification must state the reason(s) for denial and the applicant’s right 
to; 
(e) An applicant for certification who has received a written notification of noncompliance or a 
written notice of denial of certification… 
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7 CFR § 205.660 General. 
 
7 CFR § 205.661 Investigation of certified operations. 
 
7 CFR § 205.662 Noncompliance procedure for certified operations. 
 
7 CFR § 205.663 Mediation. 
 
7 CFR § 205.681 Appeals. 
(a) Certification appeals. 
 
Other Laws and Regulations  
7 CFR §3.91 Adjusted civil monetary penalties 
 
 
Approved on July 22, 2011 
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